IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLENE RICHARDSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.: 94,810

ADRIENNE E. RICHARDSON,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

/

Robert R. Kimmel, Esquire LAW OFFICES OF KIMMEL & BATSON, CHARTERED 715 N. Baylen Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (850) 438-7501 Fla. Bar #211249 Attorney for Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA AND FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

TRIAL COURT FACTUAL FINDINGS:

Appellant respectfully submits that the best source of information which would otherwise be presented in a Statement of the Case and Facts is the 49 page Order of the court ("Order on Petitions to Modify"), which is the Order on appeal, found at Tab 2 of the Appendix.

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS:

1. Appellant will cite to pages of the trial court's Order, to exhibits which were admitted and have been forwarded by the Clerk, and to pages of the (partial) trial transcript prepared at the request of Appellant.

2. The Order being appealed transferred the primary physical residence of Ashleigh Richardson from her mother to her paternal grandparents. Ashleigh was seven years old when the pleadings were filed and when this case was heard in September 1997 (Order, p. 2).

3. The court found that the child had spent the significant portion of her life living at the grandparents' home. The court received into evidence (Order, p. 29) a document from when the child was two months old, where the mother gave the grandparents a special power of attorney (subsequently renewed), which permitted the grandparents to authorize and consent to medical care and treatment for Ashleigh.

4. The child spent four to five days of every week with the grandparents beginning at age 25 months for a 16 month period ending May 1993 (Order, p. 3).

-1-

5. The child next lived with her grandparents from January 1994 until April 1994 (Order, p. 31).

6. Ashleigh's parents divorced in a Chapter 61 action, with the Final Judgment being entered on April 4, 1994 (Order, p. 4) and which contained a provision forbidding, by agreement of the parties, either party from removing the child from more than 100 miles from Pensacola, Florida (Order, p. 5).

7. Ashleigh next lived with her grandparents from November 1994 until December 1996 (Order, p. 31).

8. The mother had signed a written agreement on June 30, 1995 allowing the child to live with the grandparents "until six months after the mother obtains her four year degree" (Order, pp. 29-30).

9. The event which temporarily interrupted the grandparents' care of the child was the mother's "abrupt departure" (Order, p. 46) to North Carolina on December 14, 1996 (Order, p. 45).

10. When the mother refused to return the child to Florida, the father filed an action seeking to have the child returned. This was filed 19 days after the mother took the child to North Carolina (Order, p. 6). The Petition recited that the child had been living with the paternal grandparents (Appellant) (Order, p. 6).

11. The grandparents were actively involved in this action filed by the father (see transcript, 1/21/97 hearing), but were not of record until five weeks later when they filed their Motion to Intervene (Order, p. 9).

-2-

12. In anticipation of the final hearing, the court entered its Order Appointing Guardian Ad Litem and ordered psychological evaluations of the principal parties (Order, p. 9).

13. The Guardian Ad Litem investigated the case. Her transcribed trial testimony has been made a part of this record by the Appellant and will be summarized elsewhere in this section.

14. The psychologist met with all of the parties, including the child, during a one week period in the summer several weeks prior to the September 1997 hearing (see Exhibits of psychologist's written report and deposition introduced into evidence).

15. The psychologist's evaluations and reports are quoted extensively by the trial court in the Order on appeal (he testified by way of a deposition, which was presented to the Court; the deposition had been taken five days prior to the hearing).

16. The psychologist found that the child was bonded to her mother (Order, p. 40); that he had "concern with the mom's unpredictable, compulsive, inconsistent behavior" (Order, p. 40); and indicated his belief that the mother had "the ability to be a good parent" (Order, p. 40); and then summarized his opinions by stating:

Although the primary bond is clearly with mom, the primary connection with a place and residence is at the grandparents. There is no doubt that that has been the most consistent place she has known in her life and her sense of a safety connection there.

17. Immediately prior to trial but <u>after</u> the psychologist's deposition, the grandparents obtained, for the first time, a number of documents and information relating to criminal charges and HRS

-3-

investigations, which were previously unknown to them (Demaria trial testimony pp. 6-15 found at Tab 3 of the Appendix).

18. Dr. Demaria was then recalled to testify live on the final day of the hearing and admitted that this newly disclosed information regarding the mother would have substantially affected his opinions if it had been provided to him (see pp. 6-15 of Demaria trial testimony found at Tab 3 of the Appendix).

19. Among the newly discovered historical items which were presented to the psychologist at trial (after being established by evidence before the trial court, see the Findings of Fact of the Order) were the following:

(a) that the mother had a pattern of five "violent, abusive relationships with adult men" (Order, pp. 15-16, 22 & 45);

(b) that one of these men had stabbed another man in the head roughly 20 feet from where the minor child, Ashleigh, was sleeping (Order, p. 17);

(c) that the above incident had been concealed from the father, the grandparents and the psychologist by the mother;

(d) that this same violent individual had been allowed to serve as temporary caretaker for the child (Order, p. 19); and

(e) that the mother herself had been involved in episodic behavior involving violence and excessive consumption of alcohol, outside the above relationships (Order, pp. 23-24).

20. At the conclusion of Dr. Demaria's trial testimony, the trial court asked his opinion about the child's attachment to the grandparents and what effect the mother's attempt at terminating

-4-

that attachment would have on the child (p. 27 of Dr. Demaria's testimony found at Tab 3 of the Appendix). The psychologist responded that the seven years in Florida with the grandparents outweighed the eight months in North Carolina (pending final hearing) (see p. 30 of Dr. DeMaria's testimony, Tab 3, Appendix). He also testified that the child had an unusually strong bond with the grandparents (p. 27 of Dr. Demaria's testimony, Tab 3, Appendix) and that the disruption or breach of that relationship "does affect a child" (p. 28 of Dr. Demaria's testimony, Tab 3, Appendix).

21. The court found factually:

When the mother left for work on the date of the stabbing incident, she knew Ashleigh was asleep on the couch; her roommate and her roommate's boyfriend were drinking alcoholic beverages with Hubert Morris, Jr., in the kitchen; Morris was severely impaired and had a very bad temper; and trouble likely would ensue when Morris attempted to leave her home and her roommate attempted to prevent him from operating his vehicle.

(Order, p. 18).

22. The HRS caseworker visited the home immediately after the stabbing incident, and her report states "police tape was everywhere and it looked frightening to this worker . . . imagine what the child must have thought" (Order, p. 21).

23. The boyfriend who committed the stabbing was named Hubert Morris, Jr. The next gentleman in the mother's life was Joe Lee Dixon (Order, p. 21). The court found

the mother knew or should have known Joe Dixon's criminal history. Nevertheless, she permitted him to stay in her residence while the child was present. . . . She testified that she did not consider Mr. Dixon her

"boyfriend", although she did become pregnant with his child.

24. The Court also found that the mother had violated the terms of the Final Judgment of Dissolution and the Marital Settlement Agreement by removing the child more than 100 miles from Pensacola, Florida (Order, p. 9).

25. The trial court specifically found that to allow the child to reside with the mother would be dangerous (at pp. 44-45):

The mother's residences have been epitomized by violent, abusive relationships with adult men who have engaged in a variety of criminal activities. Additionally, the involved mother has herself been in violent, uncontrollable outbursts, possibly related to alcohol The continued exposure of Ashleigh to these abuse. destructive relationships and dangerous circumstances creates an unacceptably high risk of endangerment to the child. (Emphasis supplied.)

(at p. 45):

The mother has exposed the child to numerous individuals and circumstances which promote immorality and lawlessness.

(at p. 45):

The mother's medical and mental health history and condition does not directly place the child at risk, but when coupled with significant stress and/or alcohol, it endangers the child.

26. The Court-appointed Guardian Ad Litem, Amy Cordray, testified live (see trial transcript). She had 30 years of experience as a teacher, owner/director of a day care center, was certified by the Child Development Association, had received continuing education from the local Junior College through studies with family development and had cared for over 1,000 children (trial transcript, p. 5).

-6-

27. The Guardian testified to repeated visits to the mother's home (transcript, pp. 9-10) as well as to many unsuccessful attempts to contact the mother during her investigation (transcript, p. 16). The Guardian testified to complete cooperation by the grandparents (transcript, p. 16).

28. The Guardian testified that during her investigation "the child was always there [at the grandparents] (transcript, p. 16).

29. The Guardian testified that she believed the child had been "tossed around in a sea of confusion" and that the "safe harbor for this child" was the home of the grandparents (transcript, p. 11).

30. The Guardian noted an occasion when the mother sent the child to stay at the grandparents because "she felt the child was in danger" (transcript, p. 18).

31. Having watched the trial proceedings and from her review of the documents, the Guardian Ad Litem testified that

what comes out is a lot of violent people and a lot of violent actions in these. I think she's [Ashleigh's] seen more violence in words and actions in her seven years than I've seen in 57 years.

32. The mother was cross-examined extensively regarding the deterioration in the child's school performance since the move to North Carolina in December 1996 (see trial transcript of Adrienne Richardson). The mother conceded that the child, in Florida, had been a student making As and Bs (transcript, p. 58). The mother admitted that the child missed eight days of school out of a 49 day period in North Carolina (transcript, p. 57). The mother admitted

-7-

that, since the child had gone to North Carolina, she had made no As (transcript, p. 58), 14 Cs (transcript, p. 59) and "a handful of Bs" (transcript, p. 59).

33. The North Carolina report card, which had been introduced by the mother, indicated that the child received poor marks in her ability to use time wisely and in her ability to listen to and follow instructions (transcript, p. 62). The child received the lowest (worst possible) marks under the categories of "cooperation with peers", "cooperation with adults" and "her practice of self control" (transcript, p. 62).

34. The child, according to the report card, was coming to school unprepared and was not completing her homework (transcript, p. 62).

35. The court received evidence regarding the mother's history of mental illness, treatments and drug and alcohol use (Order, pp. 16, 19, 24, 27 & 45).

36. Regarding the quality of the upbringing and care the child received while living with her grandparents, the following facts were found to be established by the court:

(a) the mother had designated the grandparents ascustodians in the event of her death or incapacity (Order, p. 30);

(b) the grandparents were the ones who saw to the child's health needs (Order, p. 32);

(c) the grandparents saw to the child's education, including preschool (Order, p. 31);

-8-

(d) the grandparents provided for the child's extracurricular development, including swimming, soccer, gymnastics, ballet, "a variety of church activities and programs" and "special events at school" (Order, p. 31);

(e) witnesses for the grandparents testified that while in the grandparents' care, the child was "well-behaved, extremely polite, and gives respects to her grandparents" (Order, p. 33);

(f) the court found the grandparents had the

proven history of providing the child with all her material needs, clothing, medical care, educational support, and a variety of other opportunities for the child to grow and develop into a healthy adult.

(Order, p. 44);

(g) the court further found "unquestionably the grandparents have provided the greatest moral influence over Ashleigh during her relatively brief existence" (Order, p. 45);

(h) the court found that the grandparents had involved the child

in an assortment of activities and environs in which the child could be trained and educated in right and wrong . . . On the contrary, the mother has exposed the child to numerous individuals and circumstances which promote immorality and lawlessness.

(Order, p. 45); and

(i) The court evaluated the evidence regarding the child's Florida education and found that

the evidence was uncontroverted that in all the child's Florida schooling, she was welladjusted, well-behaved, well-prepared, and worked well with the teachers and other students, completing assignments promptly and having no problem with tardiness.

37. The court learned from teachers, the grandparents and other witnesses that while the mother still lived in Florida, she was made aware of all of the child's schooling and scheduled activities. Notwithstanding this awareness, the mother was never seen by the child's second grade teacher, attended only two soccer games over two full seasons, missed two of the child's birthdays, missed the child's choir performances and missed the child's gymnastics award day (Order, pp. 32-33).

38. The mother appealed the trial court's ruling. The District Court opinion did not discuss the violence the child had been exposed to, the actual extent of the child's residence with the grandparents, the evidence of the mother's instability, alcohol abuse, violent behavior and mental illness, nor the trial court's findings of "an unacceptably high risk of endangerment to the child".

39. The District Court reversed the trial court ruling on a finding that § 61.13(7), Fla.Stat. (1995), is facially unconstitutional in permitting evaluation of "the grandparents' custody request solely upon a best interest standard".

-10-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

(1) The District Court of Appeal opinion is in error. § 61.13(7), Fla.Stat. (1995), is not facially unconstitutional, even under a <u>Beagle/Von Eiff</u>¹ analysis, since it contains safeguards and standards (omitted from Chapter 752) so that the "governmental intrusion" only comes into play in those limited circumstances where the child is already living with the grandparents in a stable relationship. Further, none of the "intact family" or "loving, nurturing and fit parents" factors in <u>Beagle</u> and <u>Von Eiff</u> are present, in light of the trial court's factual findings regarding the Appellee.

Lastly, the mother's delegating child-rearing to the grandparents constitutes an abandonment of the mother's privacy right, and the trial court's specific findings of the likelihood of demonstrable harm to the child establish a strong enough compelling State interest under prior decisions of this Court to warrant the "intrusion".

(2) If the Supreme Court disagrees with the above and agrees with that portion of the District Court opinion which finds that use of the "best interests" standard is unconstitutional, the remainder of the Statute subsection is salvageable. Constitutional Statute construction precedent established by this Court requires

¹<u>Beagle v. Beagle</u>, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996); <u>Von Eiff v.</u> <u>Azricri</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly S583 (Fla. November 12, 1998).

that the Statute subsection be salvaged if possible, and a <u>Schmitt²</u> "limiting construction" should be applied to the inoffensive portions of the Statute.

(3) This particular case requires only a narrow ruling on these specific facts. Prior case law conclusively establishes a "harm to the child" exception as sufficient to establish the necessary compelling State interest to override any privacy argument.

(4) This trial court's factual findings conclusively established the likely harm to the child and the unfitness of the mother as a custodian.

(5) Accordingly, the trial court ruling should be upheld, either upon a finding that the Statute Subsection is constitutional as is, or, in the alternative, is constitutional after striking the unconstitutional phrase (or phrases) and as applied to the particular facts of this specific case.

²<u>Schmitt v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1991).

ARGUMENT

(1) § 61.13(7), Fla.Stat. (1995), is not facially unconstitutional, since it contains safeguards and standards (omitted from Chapter 752) where the child is already living with the grandparents in a stable relationship.

The mother's delegating child-rearing to the grandparents constitutes an abandonment of her privacy right. The trial court's findings of likelihood of harm to the child establish a compelling State interest.

(1) (A) DISTINCTION BETWEEN STATUTES

First, we must draw a distinction (as the Legislature has done) between the grandparent visitation Statute addressed in <u>Von</u> <u>Eiff v. Azricri</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly S583 (Fla. November 12, 1998), and <u>Beagle v. Beagle</u>, 678 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1996), and the custody section of Chapter 61, Fla.Stat. (1995), which the District Court has struck down in the instant case.

This Court has previously made such distinctions, for example with this language from <u>Beagle</u>:

We limit our holding to only those situations in which a child is living with both natural parents, at least one natural parent objects to grandparental visitation, and no relevant matters are pending in the court system.

[At p. 1272.]

§ 61.13(7) contains two specific, stringent threshold requirements that must be satisfied before a grandparent can seek to invoke the use of the Statute. First, the child must be actually residing with the grandparents. Secondly, there must be an existing "stable relationship" with those grandparents.

Comparing this situation to a grandparent seeking visitation is like comparing apples to oranges. In the visitation scenario, the grandparent is by definition outside the "family" home (whether it is intact or not intact, whether it involves widowed parents, remarried parents, or otherwise).

By definition, grandparents who seek to use Chapter 752 are in some fashion or another "intruding" into this family. By contrast, any grandparent who seeks to invoke § 61.13(7), by definition already has the child inside their home. To further the analogy, if these two significant factual predicates exist, it is <u>the parent</u> (here the mother) who is "invading" the intact home of the child and the grandparents. This is a very important distinction, and one appropriate for the Legislature to have recognized.

It is precisely for a case such as this (Richardson) case that § 61.13(7), Fla.Stat. (1995) was enacted. Those children who have had the long-time stability of a life with loving, supportive grandparents acting in the parental role, do indeed require the protection of the State when a parent seeks to disrupt that "stable relationship".

This concept of recognizing that the circumstances of a child change drastically when that child's mother has unofficially forfeited the opportunity to have the child live with her is not a new concept. The child's landscape and life are changed by such an action, and the impact of that action has been recognized by the courts even in other contexts. For example, in a termination of parental rights case (<u>In the Interest of L.R.R.</u>, 455 So.2d 598

-14-

(Fla. 5th DCA 1984)), the mother had shown limited interest in the children during the time they were in another's custody. The opinion pointed out that:

As to Russell's [the mother] apparent renewed interest in the children since the filing of the petition for permanent commitment, we agree with the Second District's observation in <u>In the Interest of R.V.F.</u>, 437 So.2d 713, 714 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), that "this cannot make up for the lengthy omission of support and communication which preceded the filing of the Petition". [Footnote 4 at p. 600.]

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