IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 94,810

CHARLENE RICHARDSON,

Appellant, v.

ADRIENNE RICHARDSON,

Appellee, ----/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Adrienne E. Richardson, In Pro Se 259 Furman Road #209 Boone, North Carolina 28607 (828)265-4336

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA AND FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

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

In a case similar to the instant case, a Kansas Court awarded custody of a child to a grandparent when the Mother was not found to be unfit and where the Court relied on "best interest" to determine who should have primary residential custody of the child. This case was later overturned by the

Kansas Supreme Court. Sheppard v. Sheppard, 630 P.2d 1121 (Kansas 1981). In the Kansas Supreme Court's explanation of its decision the court declared: "Under the law of the land the welfare and best interests of children are primarily the concern of their parents, and it is only when parents are unfit to have custody, rearing and education of children, that the state as parens patriae, with it's court and judges, steps in to find fitting custodians in loco parentium..." Sheppard v. Sheppard, 630 P.2d 1121 (Kansas 1981) at 1124, which quotes <u>In Re Kailer</u>, 123 Kan. 229,, 230, 231, 255 p.41 (1927). Similarly, Florida Statute 61.13 (7), violates parents constitutionally protected rights to raise their children especially in the absence of a finding that a parent is unfit. In Quilloin v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246 at 255 and Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 862-863 (1977) the Court notes:

"We have little doubt that the Due Process

Clause would be offended "[i]f a State were to

attempt to force the breakup of a natural family,

over the objections of the parents and their

children, without some showing of unfitness and for

the sole reason that to do so was thought to be in

the children's best interest.".

In custody proceedings involving a parent and a third party it has been established that, "the test must include consideration of the right of a natural parent to enjoy the custody, fellowship and companionship of his offspring...This is a rule older than common law itself." In Re: The Guardianship of D.A. McW.v McWhite, 460 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla 1984), and in <u>In Re: The Guardianship of D.A. McW.v McWhite</u>, 460 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla 1984) Judge Anstead of the Fourth District distinguished between the rights of parents and a third party in custody proceedings by stating: "When a custody dispute is between two parents, where both are fit and have equal rights to the custody, the test involves only the determination of the best interests of the child" at 369 and 370 However, "[w]hen a custody dispute is between a natural parent and a third party,... custody should be denied to the natural parent only when such an award will, in fact, be detrimental to the welfare to the child." at 370. To give a third party custody of a child in the absence of parental unfitness or detriment to the child and to base a decision merely on best interest violates both the Article I, Section 23

of The Florida Constitution as well as the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. There is not a compelling state interest warranting interference with a parents right to raise their child in the absence of an actual finding of abandonment, abuse or neglect. The rights of parents to raise their children have been upheld in The United States Supreme Court and that freedom has been firmly established as a constitutionally protected liberty interest "freedom of personal choice in matters of . . . family life is one of the liberties protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." Cleveland Board of Education v. LaFleur, 414 U.S. 632, 639-640 (1974). And in <u>Beagle v. Beagle</u>, 678 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) the courts ruled that a third party cannot impose upon the family's right to privacy, Florida Statute 61.13(7) is likewise unconstitutional in that it violates a parents rights to raise their children because the "best interests" test is the appropriate standard only when a court is confronted with a custody or visitation dispute between two parents and it was established that Article I, Section 23 protects the privacy rights of all family units in the same way, regardless of the marital status of the parents.

In the case of <u>In re:Marriage of Matzen</u>, 600 so.2d. 487

(Fla. 1st DCA 1992) the trial court ruled that custody could not be denied a natural in preference to a third party unless there is clear evidence of abandonment, detriment to the child or the parent is unfit. The absence of detriment criteria has been established in <u>In re: Guardianship of D.A. McW.</u>, 460 So. 2d 368, 369-370), <u>Beagle</u>, and <u>Von Eiff</u>,

The United States Supreme Court has on many occasions emphasized the importance of the family unit. One of the liberties protected by the Due Process Clause, the Court has held, is the freedom to "establish a home and bring up children." Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923). If a State were to attempt to force the breakup of a natural family, over the objections of the parents and their children, without some showing of unfitness and for the sole reason that to do so was thought to be in the children's best interest, I should have little doubt that the State would have intruded impermissibly on "the private realm of family life which the state cannot enter." Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 166 (1944). One of the liberties due the citizens of this nation and protected by the Due Process Clause is the freedom to "establish a home and bring up children." and the rights to bear and raise one's children have been deemed "essential,"

Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923). The rights to raise one's child are the "basic civil rights of man," Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 541 (1942). These rights are to be considered "far more precious . . . than property rights," May v. Anderson, 345 U.S. 528, 533 (1953). "It is cardinal with us that the custody, care and nurture of the child reside first in the parents, whose primary function and freedom include preparation for obligations the state can neither supply nor hinder." Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 166 (1944). The Supreme Court has recognized that the relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected <u>Wisconsin v. Yoder</u>, 406 U.S. 205, 231-233 (1972), Meyer v. Nebraska., 262 U.S. 390, 399-401 (1923). A parents right to raise his or her child in the absence of a finding to determine parental fitness has been upheld and shown to be a protected liberty interest in Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645 (1972). The integrity of the family unit has found protection in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, Mever <u>v. Nebraska</u>., 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923), the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 541 (1942) and the Ninth Amendment, Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 496 (1965).

I request the Court to find that Florida Statute 61.13(7) violates a parent's constitutional right to raise their child in the absence of a finding that the parent is unfit and that the right to raise children is a constitutionally protected Liberty Interest and quaranteed right to everyone in our Nation by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of The United States Constitution. As a mother who has not been shown to be unfit, I should have the right to raise my child without the fear that a court can override my desire to raise my child, and decide that my daughters best interest would be served better by allowing a third party to raise her as opposed to me being given that most basic human right of bearing and raising my child. The right to raise our children is a fundamental right of each citizen and is protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and in Florida the citizens of the state voted on November 4, 1980 to amend the Florida Constitution to include Article I, Section 23 which states in part: "Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from government intrusion...". "The State registers no gain towards it declared goals when it separates children from the custody of fit parents." Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 652 (1972).

(2) When the Supreme Court finds the use of the best interest standard is unconstitutional, the entire statute will be in unsalvageable.

The 1st DCA was given three separate arguments with regard to the Lower Tribunal's decision (Appellants Original Initial Brief, 1st DCA, case No. 98-1240, Appendix 1) and (Reply Brief, 1st DCA, case No. 98-1240, Appendix 2). The Appellant never argued to the 1^{st} DCA in that case that "§ 61.13 (7), Fla.Sta. (1995), should at worst be utilized without the best interest standard" (Argument 2, Page 20, Appellant's Initial Brief on the Merits); furthermore, the Court found later found in S.G. v. C.S.G (Fla. 1st DCA, January 21, 1999) that, "The parties in Richardson made no argument regarding an interpretation of section 61.13(7) which might have avoided an unconstitutional application of the statute in that case", the District Court in S.G. v. C.S.G. "applied the statute in a manner that was consistent with the privacy provision of the Florida Constitution" (S.G. v. C.S.G, [fn6]). The Appellant had his chance to have the 1^{st} DCA consider this alternative; however, he failed to do so in the 1st DCA. I would however, argue that the entire statute is unconstitutional in that it relies solely on a best interest basis and elevates a third party to the position of a natural parent, with or without the natural parents consent, and when that parent is not unfit, and has not caused harm or detriment to the child, or abandoned the

child. If a third party is elevated to the status or same standing of a natural parent, when that parent has not been shown to be unfit, or abandoned the child, it would be a violation of the natural parent's right to familial privacy.

If the Supreme Court were to salvage a portion of Florida Statute 61.13(7) that would in any sense allow a grandparent to compete with the natural parent for custody of the child, the court would be in effect allowing the grandparent to compete on a best interest basis with the parent. and in In Re: The Guardianship of D.A. McW.v McWhite, 460 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla 1984) Judge Anstead of the Fourth District distinguished between the rights of parents and a third party in custody proceedings by stating: "When a custody dispute is between two parents, where both are fit and have equal rights to the custody, the test involves only the determination of the best interests of the child" at 369 and 370 However, "[w]hen a custody dispute is between a natural parent and a third party,... custody should be denied to the natural parent only when such an award will, in fact, be detrimental to the welfare to the child." at 370. Florida Statute 61.13(7) is unsalvageable simply because it elevates the grandparents to the status of the natural parents. It has been shown to

violate the parents constitutionally protected liberty interest to raise her child free from government intrusion. Parents compete on a best interest basis in custody issues. To allow any standing as a parent to a grandparent would be allowing that grandparent, third party, to compete on a best interest basis against the parent without a need to show parental unfitness, abandonment, or harm.

It would be almost impossible to elevate a third party in a custody dispute to the position or status of a natural parent and rule on anything other than best interest; thus, violating the parent's right to familial privacy unless this court rules at the same time that best interest test is no longer the appropriate standard in a custody dispute between two parents, the court will have to affirm the District Court Opinion and find Florida Statute 61.13(7) Unconstitutional. The entire statute is grounded in the elevation of the grandparents to the same standing as parents in a custody dispute, which violates article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution.

Florida Statute 61.13(7), which began as Florida House Bill 699 , provides:

"In any case where the child is actually residing with a grandparent in a stable relationship, whether the court has awarded custody to the grandparent or not, the court may

recognize the grandparents as having the same standing as parents for evaluating what custody arrangements are in the best interest of the child.

In a summary of the bill, the sponsors noted:

This bill authorizes the court to recognize grandparents as having the same standing as parents for purposes of ordering custody in dissolution proceedings in cases where the child actually resides with a grandparent in a stable relationship. The effect of the bill is to give the court a third option in ordering custody which is in the best interest of the minor child as a result of a dissolution proceeding. (Emphasis added)Fla. House Comm. on Judiciary, Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Statement, HB 699 at 1 (April 19, 1993)."

Babb v. Begines 701 So.2d 616 (Fla.App. 4 Dist. 1997).

The sponsors of the statute were quite clear in that they clearly state "The effect of the bill is to give the court a third option in ordering custody which is in the best interest of the minor child", and the bill itself "authorizes the court to recognize grandparents as having the same standing as parents" in a custody dispute. The Statue's fatal flaw is that it allows a grandparent the same standing as parents in a custody dispute. Florida Statute 61.13(7) is unconstitutional in it's entirety. The entire statute is based on the elevation of a grandparent to same status of a parent, which is

unconstitutional; therefore, Florida Statute 61.13(7) cannot be salvaged without infringing upon the natural parent's right to familial privacy.

(3) The Appellant has failed to provide evidence that a "harm to a child" exception exists.

As this Court is aware, I am not an attorney, my argument to the 1st DCA was based on the applications and constitutionality of § 61.13 (7), Fla.Sta.(1995) which provided the means for the appellant to intervene on a "best interest" basis. It seems my Right to Due Process will be Denied, if I have to defend to the Supreme Court an issue which has never been directly addressed in a Trial Court, or even a District Court of Appeal. Accusations of parental unfitness are serious and should be taken seriously, when they are justified, appropriate action is taken. Any proof of specific harm to a child should be proven by clear and convincing evidence before the state may sanction intrusion on parental rights Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982).

Florida Statutes, Chapter 39 specifically, has provided a means for a third party, as the Appellant is, to gain custody

of their grandchildren when a parent is not fit to raise her child. The Appellee would suggest to this Court that if she were actually unfit or a detriment to her child that the Appellant utilize the proper statute in the instant case. The Mothers fitness has never been an issue, until now, and in fact it is basically a smoke-screen to this Court.

The Trial Court on February 18th 1999, offered The

Appellant additional time to actually show danger or harm was
an issue before entering an Order returning the Child to her

Mother, the Appellant could not and did not. The Trial Court

Ordered the Child be returned to her Mother's care on February

19th 1999 (Appendix 3). The Child is currently residing with
her Mother in Boone, North Carolina.

The Appellees daughter was not exposed to any horrors as a result of living with her mother. There is no reason for the Appellant to assume the child will be exposed to horrors, stabbings, or lewd behavior while in her mother's care, there was a stabbing; however, the Appellees daughter was in the care of a babysitter, the child slept through the entire incident, which occurred outside the home approximately 30 feet from the house. I am not negating the incident; however, clearly it was an extraordinary and unfortunate incident, and certainly not

common or likely to occur again.

(4) The Trial Court's Factual Findings do not conclusively establish the likely harm to the child or the unfitness of the Mother.

The trial Court Judge allowed the grandparents to intervene pursuant to Florida Statute 61.13(7). The ruling was based on a best interest basis. The Appellant choose to intervene pursuant to Florida Statute 61.13(7) in which a best interest test was held. The Appellant had available to them, and still does, the means to attempt to change or modify custody through a Chapter 39 dependency hearing in which they could have attempted to, and still can try to show that I am in someway unfit or had abandoned or even volunteered custody of the child to the grandparents. The Appellants still have that option available, yet lack supporting evidence to initiate

such a proceeding. That is why they choose to intervene under 1.13(7).

The District Court opinion did focus on the constitutionality of Florida Statute 61.13(7) and the application of it in the case, they ruled that the statute violates a parents right to familial privacy.

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